1977

State of Utah v. Ricky Joe Archuletta : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a case in which defendant-appellant seeks a reversal of the Second Judicial District Court's denial of defendant's Motion to Dismiss, Motion for Suppression of Evidence and Motion for a New Trial.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The defendant was arraigned before the Second Judicial District Court of Davis County, State of Utah on March 30, 1976, at which time, trial was set for April 30, 1976 at 9:00 a.m. which trial setting was vacated and rescheduled for June 9, 1976. Defendant filed his Motion for an Earlier Trial Date on the 3rd day of May, 1976 and when

said trial date was not given at an earlier date, a Motion to Dismiss was filed on June 3, 1976 but due to the date of the filing of said Motion and its having been filed less than a week prior to trial, no hearing was held upon the said Motion until the trial of June 9, 1976. Because there had been no hearing prior to trial, the Court denied defendant's Motion for dismissal.

On April 19, 1976, defendant-appellant filed his Motion to Suppress Evidence on the grounds that he had signed a statement which constituted a confession and admission when, in fact, he could not read or write the English language and further basing said Motion upon the fact that he was intoxicated and drunk from alcoholic beverages at the time of the signing of the said confession. Said Motion was again made at the time of trial and reserved during the continuance of the trial and later denied by the Court.

During the course of the trial, defendant's mother, Mrs. Prisdilla Flores, testified under cross-examination by the State, stating that the defendant had been in prison and based upon that, the defendant moved for a new trial. No decision order issued as a result of that motion and the defendant was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for a period of one to fifteen years. Counsel for the defendant, who has been appointed by the Court, filed a Notice of Appeal

on the 17th day of June, 1976 and then filed his Notice of Withdrawal. The defendant himself filed a Notice of Appeal in his own handwriting on the 7th of July, 1976 and it is pursuant to those Notices of Appeal that this matter is brought before the Supreme Court of the State of Utah. Concurrent with the filing of the Notice of Appearance by counsel was the filing of a Designation of Record on Appeal which, in part, asked for a transcript to be prepared at County expense on behalf of defendant-appellant which was resisted by the County so that due to the failure of the County to appoint an attorney or otherwise provide representation and the delays associated with defense counsel's attempt to enforce the provision for the defendant of a transcript, defendant has been in prison since June 9, 1976 to the present time and had not received a transcript of the trial itself until October 3, 1977. For this reason, a Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus accompanies the brief herein.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-appellant asks that the judgments of the lower Court be reversed with respect to the Motion to Dismiss, the Motion to Suppress Evidence and the Motion for a New Trial and further that defendant be granted the relief sought in his

Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

March 30, 1976, defendant was arraigned on a charge of burglary and trial was scheduled for April 30, 1976, for which notice was mailed to counsel. (R 10, 11) Thereafter, the trial was continued from April 30, 1976 to June 9, 1976 and notice thereon filed May 4, 1976. (R 15). Defendant's counsel learned that the matter would be continued and filed the motion for the defendant for an earlier trial date on May 3, 1976, making the said demands under U.C.A. 77-1-8(6) (1953) claiming a constitutional right to a speedy trial under Article 1, Section 12 of the Utah State Constitution. (R 14) Notwithstanding the said Notice and Motion for an Earlier Trial Date, June 9, 1976 continued to be the scheduled time of defendant's trial. June 3, 1976, defendant filed his Motion to Dismiss the Complaint against him; said Motion filed with Memorandum in Support thereof. (R 16, 18) The Motion was again made before the Court on the day of trial at the beginning thereof but the Court did not make any decisions thereon until later on in the trial but reserving to the plaintiff the right to make any motions that he desired later on in the trial.

On April 19, 1976, the month following the arraignment of the defendant, defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence (R 12)

basing said Motion upon the fact that the defendant had at the time of the investigation of the matter, while he was drunk from alcoholic beverages had given a statement of confession to the crime, but more importantly, the confession admissions were reduced to writing and the defendant had signed the said confession notwithstanding the fact that he could not read or write anything but his own name.

During the course of trial, defendant's mother, Priscilla Flores, was called to the witness stand and during her testimony, while she was being cross-examined by the State, stated that the defendant had been in prison. (Tr. 117, ln. 24-25) Because of that statement, the defendant filed a Motion for a New Trial on the 18th day of June, 1976. (R 59) Defendant's Notice of Appeal was timely filed and at the same time, defense counsel's Notice of Withdrawal. (R 56, 58 & 63). Plaintiff awaited in prison from June 17, 1976 until March 3, 1977 for the appointment of another attorney and subsequent to the appointment of Lyle J. Barnes, Esq. as counsel by the Supreme Court of the State of Utah who then filed a Designation of Record on Appeal. (R 68) Defendant waited from March 3, 1976 until October 3, 1976 for the transcript of record which was a time during which counsel for the defendant and the Court and counsel for the State, together with Mr. Loren Martin, negotiated the question of transcript and whether or not said transcript should be

prepared and made available without cost to the defendant.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A DEFENDANT IN A CRIMINAL PROCEEDING WHO IS HELD OR INCARCERATED IN JAIL AWAITING TRIAL AND HAS BEEN HELD BEYOND THIRTY DAYS IN SAID CONFINEMENT FOLLOWING ARRAIGNMENT AND FOLLOWING HIS DEMAND FOR AN EARLIER TRIAL DATE, MAY NOT BE TRIED AND CONVICTED.

The controlling law governing the disposition of plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss is Article 1, Section 12 of the Constitution of Utah which reads:

In criminal prosecution, the accused shall have the right to...have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the County or District in which the offense is alleged to have been committed...

Also controlling is U.C.A. 77-1-8(6):

Rights of the Defendant. In criminal prosecutions, the defendant is entitled: (6) to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is alleged to have been committed; and every defendant in a criminal action unable to get bail shall be entitled to a trial within thirty (30) days after arraignment, if the court is then in session in such county, otherwise, the trial of such defendant shall be called on the next day of the next succeeding session of the court.

These legal requirements have been qualified so that a defendant must request for trial in order to take advantage of the guarantee of the trial within thirty days. State vs. Bohn, 47 UT. 362, 248 P. 19. On the other hand,

the defendant is entitled to a dismissal if, in fact, he makes the request and is not tried within thirty days as required by the statutes. State vs. Lozano, 23 UT. 2d, 312, 462 P.2d 710.

POINT II

WHERE THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS UNABLE TO READ OR WRITE THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE AND WAS OTHERWISE UNABLE TO FULLY UNDERSTAND WHAT HE WAS DOING ANY CONFESSION OR ADMISSION TRANSCRIBED OR ORALLY SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED.

Early in the proceedings on April 19, 1976, plaintiff filed his Motion to Suppress Evidence relating to a certain transcribed oral confession or admission given by the defendant-appellant to the police officers in Clearfield on the 8th day of February, 1976. At that time, a statement was extracted. On page 2 of the transcript of his statement, we read:

Q: This was after you had returned to the Delgado residence to burglarize it and gone back to town?

A. Yes.

In that statement, the defendant-appellant was asked information regarding burglary of which he is not legally capable or competent to understand and this, together with the fact that he was, in fact, a Spanish-American speaking poor English and unable to read and write the English language was a rather prejudicial statement and may have been one in which

he himself was unable to understand or effectively evaluate at the time he answered in the affirmative. There was evidence before the Court that he has been drinking that day. The direct testimony of Angelo Cabrero, who was with the defendant at the time that he was taken to the police station on the day of the admissions as indicated herein, testified as follows:

- Q. On the 17th day of February, 1976, did you have occasion to transport Mr. Ricky Archuletta to the Farmington Sheriff's Office?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And who's car did you come in?
- A. My car.
- Q. Who was present with you?
- A. Jose Flores, Ricky and myself.
- Q. Now, at the time that you took him to the police station, could you explain anything unusual about his demeanor or his character at that time?
- A. Yes, sir. That morning I got up there early, and I went down next door and we bought a case of beer and sat drinking. two o'clock, he told me he had to go some place and he needed a ride. I said, "Okay" so we kept drinking, and then about 1:30 we left. And I left with Ricky, and we came early, and I left him there at the police station. We waited there for awhile, for an hour, you know like from 2:00 until about 4:30, then they told us we could go. Ricky wasn't going to go, Ricky was not going to go with us no more.
- Q. When you got to the Sheriff's Office, what effect if any, did the drinking have upon Mr. Archuletta.
- A. Well, he went straight and sit down. And then he would stand up again, and looking for somebody. Then he just wait, and then sit down for awhile. Then five minutes later, you know, a policeman came in and took him in.
- Q. Was he drunk when you got there?
- A. To my knowledge, he was pretty, you know, pretty affected.

- Q. Well, what did the liquor have to do with it, --how did he feel from that, anything?
- A. Oh, I don't know how he feels, I know how he looked.
- Q. How did he look?
- A. Like--I couldn't explain. When you drink about-- I don't know how to explain it. Awful. Not awful, but I mean--
- Q. Are you having a rough time speaking the language?
- A. Yes, I do.

- Q. Is it your testimony that he was drunk when you got there?
- A. Yes, sir. (T. pgs. 58-59)

From the testimony of Jose Flores who also accompanied him on that trip to the police station, we read:

- Q. Were you present at any time during any consumption of alcoholic beverage or--
- A. Yah. They were drinking in front of my porch.
- Q. Did you then later--how long did that occur. How long did that take place. That drinking.
- A. How long?
- Q. Yes.
- A. For a few hours.
- Q. Then were you with them when they went to the Clearfield Police Department?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Is this the last time you saw Ricky as far as until later, when you went to the preliminary hearing.
- A. Yah.
- Q. As you got to the Clearfield Police Department, what was his condition? Could you describe that?
- A. Drunk.

The second defect in admitting the statement of the defendant which was transcribed and signed by the defendant is the fact that the officers knew at the time that the statement was extracted that the defendant was unable to read and write the English language. On vore dire examina-

Q. A few more questions about this: You indicated that he had some problem being able to understand statements being put to him. Is that what you said earlier?

A. We felt he might have.

Q. And its your testimony that he could not read.

A. That's correct. That's what he stated to us.

The above evidences indicate that defendant-appellant was unable to make a valid statement. First, because he could not understand the meaning of burglarize and answered in the affirmative. It was his testimony and that of others, that he was merely picking up items which had previously been given to Mr. Archuletta, the defendant-appellant for the purposes of paying a fine. Mr. Delgado, however, upon learning later that a Ralph Gomez, a companion of Mr. Archuletta was also benefiting from the items, then reneged on the deal and wanted to charge the individuals Ralph Gomez and Mr. Archuletta with burglary. It is obvious that if Mr. Archuletta was unable to understand the word burglary or "burglarizing" and attached to that, the meaning only that he picked up the items from his relative, Mr. Delgado, who now reneged on the offer and himself being willing to cooperate with Delgado, the statement given by himself as Spanish-American unable to read and write and further to fully understand the English language would be a highly prejudicial statement

and could be interpreted by the jury as being an admission of the part of the defendant-appellant when, in fact, it was not. Nevertheless, as this Motion to Suppress was brought up during trial, the Court overruled the Motion and admitted the sworn statement. (R-53)

Under the circumstances, there is a considerable question as to whether or not defendant-appellant gave a voluntary statement. In the case of State vs. Revera, 94 Ariz. 45, 381 P.2d 584 (1963) there is a demonstration of what should be done in order to make certain that a defendant-appellant, such as Mr. Archuletta, fully understands the statement that he is giving. In that case, the defendant was unable to read, speak or understand the English language and a Spanish translator was brought in who then provided the translation so that there would be no question but what each word given in the statement would be understood. Because of the caution that was exercised in that case, the Court held that the written statement taken was admissible although the weight thereof could be effected by the fact that the English language had to be translated. In the case at bar, there were complicated words which no one could be certain that Mr. Archuletta understood said words. One could reasonably assume from the circumstances

that Mr. Archuletta did not consider his act to have been a crime but merely a possession and sale of goods that the giver now has reneged on, unless of course, Mr. Archuletta could understand the word "burlarized."

POINT III

WHERE THE PROSECUTION ON CROSS-EXAMINATION ELICITED FROM DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S MOTHER, PRICILLA FLORES, THE STATEMENT THAT THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT HAD BEEN IN PRISON, SAID STATEMENT WAS PREJUDICIAL AND GROUNDS FOR A NEW TRIAL.

During trial, the defendant's mother, Pricilla Flores, was called to the witness stand and testified as follows:

- Q. I see now, Ricky is over thirty years of age. Has he worked at all during this period of time?
A. Yah. Not too much, because he was, he was in prison.

This statement was made before a jury and would have the effect of tainting the the character of the defendant-appellant, securing a conviction against him. Under the rules of evidence, the prosecution was successful in creating character evidence which is proscribed unless character is, in fact, an issue created by the defendant-appellant and constitutes a reversible error on the part of the prosecution. Rule 47 of the Rules of Evidence adopted effective July 1, 1971 reads as follows:

Subject to Rule 48, when a trait of a person's character

is relevant as tending to prove his conduct on a specified occasion, such trait may be proved in the same manner as provided by Rule 46, except that... (b) any criminal action evidence of a trait of an accused character as tending to prove his guilt or innocence of the offense charged, (i) may not be excluded by a Judge under Rule 45 if offered by the accused to prove his innocence, and (ii) if offered by the prosecution to prove his guilt, may be admitted only after the accused has introduced evidence of his good character.

No objection was made at the time because to do so would only further dramatize the situation and would leave no question in the minds of the jury what was said. As it was, there was hope that maybe the jury did not hear it. The most that an objection could have accomplished would have been for the Court to say in essence that that should be stricken from the record and from the minds of the jury which anyone would know would be an impossibility. Nevertheless, said evidence was made part of the trial and the defendant's character was brought into question and tainted by the prosecution and this could constitute grounds for a new trial.

POINT IV

THERE ARE TWO ARGUMENTS IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT, RICKY JOE ARCHULETTA BEING GRANTED A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS AT THIS TIME. (1) BECAUSE THE COURT DID NOT BRING HIM TO TRIAL WITHIN THE TIME PRESCRIBED BY STATUTE AND IN SO DOING, HAD NO JURISDICTION TO HAVE TRIED THE DEFENDANT IN THE FIRST PLACE. (2) DEFENDANT SUFFERED AS A RESULT OF HIS INABILITY TO PAY FOR A TRANSCRIPT OF TRIAL UNTIL THE COURT WAS FINALLY PERSUADED TO GRANT THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE TRIAL WHICH FORCED THE DEFENDANT TO AWAIT IN PRISON FOR ANY ACTION AT ALL UPON HIS CASE.

(1) Failure to Bring the Case to Trial Within the Time Prescribed by Law

Article 1, section 12 of the Constitution of Utah requires that an accused will have a "speedy public trial by an impartial jury. U.C.A. 77-1-8 (6) requires that any defendant who is unable to get bail is entitled to a trial within thirty days after arraignment. As indicated above, in the State vs. Bond case 67 Ut. 362, 248 P.19 has modified that stating that the application of the above statute is made only where request is made and trial is not granted within thirty days. See also State vs. Lozano, 23 Ut. 2d 312, 462 P.2d 710.

One of the remedies available to the defendant is a Writ of Habeas Corpus issuing from this Supreme Court. In 39 Am. Jur. 2d, Habeas Corpus, Section 51, we read:

Subject to some authority to the contrary, and to some difference of opinion as to where the application for the Writ should be made, Habeas Corpus lies for relief of one who is entitled to be discharged because of failure to bring the case to trial within the time prescribed by law.

Again, defendant was arraigned March 30. (R 10) The first trial setting was April 30 (R 11). Counsel was told a few days before at the trial that the trial would not be held on April 30, at which time, plaintiff filed a new motion on May 30, 1976 for a New Trial Date. (R 14) Notwithstanding this demand, a trial setting issued May 4 for June 9, 1976 which continued to be the trial date through to June 3, 1976 when plaintiff and counsel failed to appear at the trial.

filed a Motion to Dismiss (R 16) with the Memorandum in Support thereof. (R 18) A Motion to Dismiss was taken up on the 9th day of June at the time of trial and denied by the Court on the grounds that it was not noticed up for hearing before the Court. (R 53)

It is obvious that the defect could have been cured any time after the filing of a Motion for an Earlier Trial Date which was in effect a demand for an earlier trial date and plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss because of that failure to provide an earlier trial date was filed June 3 and this was less than one week prior to trial.

Prior to the time of trial, Judge Swan's Clerk, Jane Johnson, had had telephone conversations with defense counsel and was aware of the fact that the delayed trial date was unacceptable. While there was some question about an earlier date having been offered which counsel had no recall of one having been made, said offer was for the 3rd of June, which would have been in excess of thirty days even so. See Tr. pgs. 89-90. It is clear that in either event, a trial was not provided within thirty days as required by the statute notwithstanding the fact that a demand had been made.

In all cases, a Writ of Habeas Corpus must follow prior motions in the trial court for discharge. 58 ALR 1514. See

also People vs. Wilson, 60 Cal. 2d 139, 32 Cal Rp. 44, 383 P.2d 452; Raider vs. People, 138 Colo. 397, 334, P.2d 437. The convicted defendant, however, has the choice or option to proceed immediately by habeas corpus after a denial of his Motion to Dismiss or to reserve the question as one of the grounds of appeal if convicted. Ex parte, Meadows, 71 Okla. Crim. 353, 112 P2d 419; 21 Am. Jur 2d Crim. Law Section 256, p.295 note 8.

(2) Delay in Acquiring Transcript of Record

Differences in access to the instruments needed to vindicate legal rights, when based upon the financial situation of the defendant, are repugnant to the Constitution, and therefore, Habeas Corpus is available to enforce the right of an indigent defendant to transcripts of the proceedings, so as to enable him effectively to defend himself. 39 Am. Jur. 2d Habeas Corpus, Section 50.

The Designation of Record on Appeal was filed March 3, 1977, nine months following the trial herein, together with the Notice of Appearance of Counsel, together with Defendant's Affidavit of Impecuniosity. (R. 67, 68, 71)

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