1978

State of Utah v. Ricky Joe Archuletta : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

POINT II

APPELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS VOLUNTARILY AND KNOWINGLY GIVEN AND PROPERLY RECEIVED AT TRIAL.

Appellant contends that his statement to the Clearfield Police concerning his participation in the Delgado burglary should have been suppressed at trial because he does not read or write the English language and was intoxicated at the time the statement was given.

Respondent notes that this Court has consistently held that on appeal from a judgment of conviction, it will view the testimony as a whole in the light most favorable to the state. State v. Jones, Utah, 554 P.2d 1321 (1976); State v. Howard, Utah, 544 P.2d 466 (1975); State v. Wilcox, 28 Utah 2d 71, 498 P.2d 357 (1972).

Testimony received at trial clearly shows that appellant's confession was made knowingly and voluntarily. Both Officers DeRyke and Chadbourne read appellant the Miranda warning and were assured by appellant that he understood his rights (T.37,71). The waiver of rights form was read to appellant several times and he stated that he understood the content of the form before he signed it (T.37,71,72). Finally, appellant's statement as to his participation in the Delgado burglary was transcribed and then repeated back to him to check its accuracy. After

time and he again acknowledged that it was correct (T.73, 74). The police officers also testified that Archuletta had no difficulty understanding their questions and responding to them (T.74).

A confession is voluntary when it is the product of rational intellect and free will. Blackburn v. Alabama, 361 U.S. 199 (1960); Davis v. North Carolina, 384 U.S. 737 (1966). The above cited testimony reveals that appellant's confession was made freely and without coercion. Appellant understood his rights, waived them and voluntarily provided the police with information regarding the Delgado burglary. Appellant's statement reveals that he broke into the Delgado home and took from it a television, stereo system and rifle (T.75,76). The confession also states that Archuletta did not believe that he had the Delgado's permission to take the property (T.76).

Appellant's counsel asserts that because appellant Archuletta does not read or write the English language, his statement could not have been made voluntarily and knowingly. Appellant cites no case law supporting this contention. Decisional law indicates that the inability to read or write the English language does not render a confession involuntary and inadmissible. People v. Dacy, 85 Cal.Rptr. 57, 5 C.A.3d 216 (1970); State v. Ortiz, 422

P.2d 355, 77 N.M. 316 (1967); State v. Brady, 469 P.2d 77, 105 Ariz. 592 (1970).

Appellant further contends that he was drunk at the time he made his statement to the police and that, therefore, his statement is inadmissible. Officers DeRyke, Chadbourne and Parker and Miss Hunter all testified that appellant was not drunk, did not smell of alcohol, walked steadily and was not disoriented during his visit to the police station on February 17, 1976 (T.70,71,84,105,110). Several cases have held that the fact an individual has been drinking, even to the extent that he is under the influence of intoxicants, does not necessarily mean that he cannot understand advice and cannot be bound by his subsequent conduct in deciding to waive the right of which he is advised. State v. Smith, 476 P.2d 802, 4 Or. App. 130 (1970); Tucker v. State, Nevada, 553 P.2d 951 (1976); State v. Clark, 110 Ariz. 242, 517 P.2d 1238 (1974); In re Cameron, 439 P.2d 633, 68 C.2d 487, 67 Cal.Rptr. 529 (1968). However, if by reason of extreme intoxication a confession cannot be said to be the product of a rational intellect and free will, it is not admissible. State v. Smith, supra; In re Cameron, supra. In the instant case, appellant has failed

to show that he was intoxicated to an extent sufficient to render his confession inadmissible.

Finally, appellant cites State v. Rivera, 381 P.2d 584, 94 Ariz. 45 (1963), contending that an interpreter should have been provided at the time of his confession. Rivera is distinguishable from the present case. In Rivera, the appellant did not read, speak or understand the English language. In the instant case, appellant spoke and understood English. Appellant felt that an interpreter was not necessary, as he stated to Officer DeRyke (T.38). Furthermore, in the instant case, testimony was received by the trial court indicating that the appellant had no trouble understanding and participating in the interview (T.74).

Viewing the testimony in a light most favorable to the decision of the lower court, it is clear that the appellant understood his rights and knowingly and voluntarily chose to waive them.

POINT II

ON CROSS-EXAMINATION, AN UNSOLICITED AND VOLUNTARY STATEMENT BY A WITNESS THAT THE APPELLANT HAD BEEN IN PRISON, WHERE SUCH STATEMENT WAS NOT HIGHLIGHTED OR EMPHASIZED, WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL AND NOT GROUNDS FOR A NEW TRIAL.

Appellant argues that a statement by his mother, during the course of cross-examination, was prejudicial and should form the basis for a new trial:

"Q. I see now, Ricky is over 30 years of age. Has he worked at all during this period of time?

A. Yah. Not too much, because he was, he was in prison." (T.117, lines 22-25).

Appellant claims that this evidence had the effect of tainting his character and securing his conviction.

Respondent concedes that Rule 47, Utah Rules of Evidence (1953), prohibits admission of evidence concerning a trait of an accused's character as tending to prove his guilt or innocence of the offense charged. The Rule also states that evidence of other crimes should not be brought in for the purpose of disgracing a defendant or showing a propensity to commit crimes. State v. Schieving, Utah, 535 P.2d 1232 (1975); State v. Kasai, 27 Utah 2d 326, 495 P.2d 1265 (1972). Respondent asserts, however, that the above-quoted testimony did not violate the intent and purpose of Rule 47, and was not brought into evidence for the purpose of disgracing appellant or showing a propensity to commit crime. The testimony was proper and should be allowed for any of the following reasons:

1. Appellant failed to object to the introduction of the supposedly prejudicial evidence at the time it was

offered at trial. This Court has consistently ruled that an appellant cannot complain on appeal of the admissibility of testimony to which he failed to object at trial. Child v. Child, 8 Utah 2d 261, 332 P.2d 981 (1958); Christensen v. Christensen, 119 Utah 361, 227 P.2d 760 (1951).

Appellant argues that no objection was made at trial because it would only have dramatized the testimony in the minds of the jury and that even if he had objected, the only remedy available to the court was an instruction striking the testimony from the record and from the minds of the jury. Appellant contends that such an instruction is of questionable value and utility. Yet this Court has stated that when improper testimony is produced, an instruction by the judge explaining the impropriety of the testimony and urging the jury not to "indulge any bias or prejudice" against the defendant because of the testimony is sufficient to prevent prejudice and injustice. State v. Mason, Utah, 530 P.2d 795, 798 (1975).

2. The testimony of appellant's mother was competent, relevant and served a legitimate purpose. In State v. Mason, supra, this Court held:

" . . . if there is some legitimate purpose to be served by evidence which is otherwise competent and relevant, the fact that it may also show the admission of another crime will not render it inadmissible." Id. at 797.

Appellant's mother had been questioned by the prosecutor about appellant's home life, education and work experience. Such testimony was relevant to help establish those experiential factors which would provide the jury with information as to appellant's language skills; a matter at issue at trial. The fact that the appellant had been in prison would tend to show that he had had experiences which would help develop his English language skills beyond those of his Spanish speaking home and community.

3. The challenged testimony was not directly solicited nor thereafter emphasized by the prosecution. The prosecutor did not ask the witness any direct questions about the appellant's prior criminal involvement or prison experience. The prosecution was pursuing a relevant line of questioning regarding appellant's background as a means of elucidating his language skills.

The challenged testimony was unsolicited and only indirectly responsive to the prosecutor's question. The prosecutor in the instant matter did not question the witness about prior criminal involvement, as did prosecutors in prior cases where this Court has held such testimony to be inadmissible. State v. Peterson, 23 Utah 2d 58, 457 P.2d 532 (1969); State v. Dickson, 12

challenged testimony was not emphasized nor highlighted in any way. The transcript of the trial proceedings reveals that the prosecutor personally made no mention of the appellant's previous prison term and did not seek to encourage or request the witness to elaborate further. Instead, the prosecutor questioned the witness more specifically about the appellant's past work experience (T.117, lines 22-30). Thus, it is evident that the questioned testimony was not highlighted nor reiterated and that the prosecution made no attempt to misuse the testimony of appellant's mother.

In this context, respondent submits that Pricilla Flores' testimony was harmless and not prejudicial to appellant. State v. Kazda, Utah, 545 P.2d 190 (1976).

4. Prior testimony had already revealed that appellant had served a prison term. On re-direct examination, appellant's own witness announced that appellant had previously been in prison:

"BY MR. BARNES:

Q. Do you have any knowledge concerning your brother's ability to read and write.

A. He don't know how to read or write.

Q. How do you know?

A. Because I have wrote him some letters for his friends up when he got out of prison." (T.68, lines 4-10).

Where appellant's own witness previously announced that appellant has been in prison, testimony received on subsequent cross-examination about appellant's prison term cannot be deemed prejudicial to an extent sufficient to establish grounds for a new trial.

POINT IV

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, INCLUDED WITHIN AND MADE A PART OF HIS APPELLATE BRIEF, IS UNTIMELY AND IMPROPERLY BROUGHT AND THE ARGUMENTS RAISED THEREIN SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THIS COURT AS PART OF APPELLANT'S APPELLATE BRIEF.

In Point IV of appellant's brief to this Court, he petitions the Court for habeas corpus relief (page 13). Said relief is requested for two reasons: (1) the trial court did not have jurisdiction because it failed to bring appellant to trial within 30 days of his request for an earlier trial date, and (2) because appellant's impecuniosity prevented him from obtaining a transcript for 15 months, he was denied equal protection of the law.

Respondent asserts that appellant's petition for habeas corpus relief is untimely and improper for either of the following two reasons and that the points raised therein should be reviewed as part of this Court's consideration of appellant's appeal.

1. The judgment in this case was signed by the trial judge June 16, 1976 (R.61), and the motion for a new trial was filed timely, Utah Code Ann. § 77-38-4 (1953), on June 18, 1976 (R.59), but was never called up for disposition. Thereafter, some 17 months later, appellant petitions this Court for a writ of habeas corpus.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-39-5 (1953), provides that an appeal may be taken within one month after notice of the denial of a motion for a new trial. Since no ruling has ever been made on the motion for a new trial, said motion is still pending; the time for appeal has not expired and an application for a writ of habeas corpus is "moot." Jones v. Smith, Utah, 550 P.2d 194 (1976).

In Jones v. Smith, supra, the Utah Supreme Court held:

"It appears to us that the time for appeal had not expired, since no ruling had been made on the motion for a new trial. Either party could have called the motion to the attention of the court and had a ruling made thereon." Id. at 195.

2. After an accused has been convicted of a crime, any claimed error or defect is required to be corrected by appeal within the time provided by law. Andreason v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d 182, 493 P.2d 1278 (1972). This Court has consistently held that matters properly heard on appeal cannot be used as a basis for granting a writ of habeas

corpus. Jones v. Smith, *supra*; Ainslie v. Smith, Utah, 531 P.2d 864 (1975); Schad v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d 345, 496 P.2d 263 (1972); Bryant v. Turner, 19 Utah 2d 284, 431 P.2d 121 (1967). The matters presented in the application for a writ of habeas corpus are all proper for consideration on appeal, and should be presented and resolved with this appeal.

A. APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL WHEN HE WAS INCARCERATED IN EXCESS OF THIRTY DAYS FOLLOWING HIS DEMAND FOR AN EARLIER TRIAL DATE.

In subpart 1 of Point IV of appellant's brief (page 14), appellant raises the identical issue argued in Point I of his brief (page 6), alleging additionally only that such argument is proper in an application for a writ of habeas corpus. Respondent has previously shown that habeas corpus relief is not proper at this stage of these proceedings. Respondent submits, therefore, that appellant was properly tried and convicted and was not prejudiced because trial was not had within thirty days of his motion for an earlier trial date, as argued in Point I of this brief (see Point I, page 6).

B. APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED A TRANSCRIPT OF TRIAL IN PREPARATION FOR APPEAL, BECAUSE OF HIS IMPECUNIORITY, IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS TO EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW.

Appellant contends that he suffered as a result of his inability to pay for a transcript of trial. Respondent asserts that appellant was provided with a transcript of trial in preparation for appeal and that the delay in obtaining a transcript was not prejudicial.

On June 16, 1976, appellant was sentenced to not less than one year and not more than fifteen years in the Utah State Prison (R.61). On June 17, 1976, counsel for appellant filed a notice of appeal (R.57), and notice of withdrawal (R.58), with accompanying motion (R.57).

On July 7, 1976, Archuletta filed a notice of appeal, pro se (R.63).

On March 3, 1977, designation of record on appeal and appellant's affidavit of impecuniosity were filed (R.67,71). However, because of the failure to prosecute this appeal, the time prescribed by Rule 75, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (1953), for filing designation of record on appeal had expired necessitating appellant's motion for

extension of time for filing designation of record on appeal, dated March 3, 1977 (R.77). The Second Judicial District Court granted appellant's motion for extension of time on March 15, 1977, and filed its order July 21, 1977 (R.73).

It is obvious that a transcript of trial could not be prepared until the court granted appellant's motion for an extension because of the time requirements of Rule 75. Once the court granted appellant's motion he was free to request a transcript, which he did on August 5, 1977 (R.75). The transcript was provided on September 27, 1977 (R.77).

Respondent asserts that the delay in obtaining a transcript was the result of the delay in proceeding with the appeal both by appellant and his attorney and not the result of appellant's impecuniosity. Respondent further asserts that a transcript was provided appellant and was done in a timely manner following the belated designation of transcript (R.75).

Appellant cites Roberts v. LaVallee, 389 U.S. 40 (1967), in support of his contention of sufficiency and prejudice. Respondent notes that Roberts is readily distinguished from the case at bar. Roberts was denied a free transcript of a preliminary hearing. In the present matter, Archuletta was never denied a transcript,

but was provided one upon a final, proper request. The prejudice suffered by Roberts in preparation for trial due to the lack of the transcript of the preliminary hearing, does not exist in the instant case because appellant has had access to the trial transcript in preparation of this appeal.

CONCLUSION

Respondent avers that appellant was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial when he was incarcerated in excess of thirty days following his demand for an earlier trial date. Furthermore, appellant's confession was voluntarily and knowingly given and properly received at trial. During trial, an unsolicited and voluntary statement, made by a witness on cross-examination, that the appellant had been in prison, where such statement was not highlighted nor emphasized, was not prejudicial and not grounds for a new trial.

Finally, appellant's petition for a writ of habeas corpus, included within and made a part of his appellate brief, is untimely and improperly brought and the arguments raised therein should be considered by this Court as part of appellant's appellate brief.

Based upon the above cited authority and argument, respondent prays that this Court affirm the decision of the lower court.